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OPINION

Factual Background

The defendant and the victim’ s mother divorced in 1983. The victim, who was an infant at
the time of the divorce, is the defendant’ s daughter. She did not see the defendant again until she
wasnine(9) yearsold. 1n 1995, whenthevictim wasthirteen (13) yearsold, thevictim’ smother was
going through atroublesome divorce. At thistime, the victim moved to Tennesseeto live with the
defendant during the school year. Shereturned most summersto livewith her mother in Washington
state.

By all outward appearances, when she moved to the defendant’ s house, the defendant and
thevictiminitially had a very normal, loving father/daughter relationship. The defendant enrolled
the victim in school and got her involved in a church community. The defendant had another
daughter from adifferent relationship who was several years younger than the victim. The younger
daughter lived with the defendant and the victim on the weekends.

However, in August of 1995, shortly after the victim moved to live with the defendant, she
and her father werewatching amoviewith explicit sex scenes. The victim asked the defendant what
the people in the movie were doing. The defendant then took the victim into the bedroom. When
they got into the bedroom, the defendant asked her if shetrusted him. Shesaid shedid. Hethentold
her to take off al of her clothes. He again asked her if shetrusted him. After she answered yes, he
had her lie on the bed and inserted the handl e of abrush inside her vagina. Hethen asked thevictim
if shewasalright and if shetrusted him. Sheagain said yes. The defendant then inserted hisfingers
inside of her vagina. He again asked her if shewas aright and if she trusted him. She again said
yes. Thedefendant then took off his clothes and proceeded to haveintercourse with the victim until
he gjaculated.

The victim lived with the defendant until she graduated from high school in June of 2000.
From August of 1995 until June of 2000, the victim and the defendant had sexual relations on a
continuousbasis. The defendant became very jeal ous of any relationships the victim had with boys,
and he even refused to keep a copy of her picture from prom because there was aboy in the picture.
He punished her for various offenses by taking her car away or depriving her of sleep. She engaged
in sexual relations with him to end her punishment.

The victim did not seek help or press charges while she lived with the defendant. She did
tell onefriend and asister who lived in Washington state about her relationship with the defendant.
Her mother cameto her graduation in the Spring of 2000. At the graduation, the victim introduced
her mother to her boyfriend. When someoneintroduced the defendant to the victim’ s boyfriend, he
grabbed his younger daughter and stormed out of the graduation. The victim’s mother became
suspicious of the “look” on his face and his reaction when he met the victim’s boyfriend. The
victim's mother confronted the defendant later that night with her suspicions. Hetold her that he
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was mad because the victim had never told him about aboyfriend. He said that thevictimwasaliar
and was deceitful.

After the victim’s mother returned to Washington state, the victim called her and told her
mother about the sexual relationship with the defendant. The victim then flew out to Washington
afew dayslater to visit her mother for the summer. After the victim got to Washington, she filed
apolice report with the police in Washington and got arestraining order.

The Cocke County Sheriff’ s Department began itsinvestigation of the defendant on June 15,
2000. After interviewing witnesses and taking statements, a detective swore out arrest warrants on
the defendant. The detective then arrested the defendant at his place of employment. The Grand
Jury returned six (6) indictments for rape and six (6) indictments for incest on July 18, 2000. Each
indictment was for one count of rape and one count of incest for each year that the victim lived with
the defendant. The trial court dismissed two of the indictments for incest for the years 1995 and
1996 for failure to meet the statute of limitations. Thetrial court held atrial on July 31 and August
1 of 2001. At the conclusion of thetrial, the jury found the defendant guilty of two counts of rape,
in 1995 and 1996, and two counts of incest, in 1997 and 1998. The jury recommended a fine of
$50,000 for the rape convictions and $20,000 for the incest convictions. Thetria court sentenced
the defendant as a Range | Standard Offender to twelve (12) years on each rape conviction, to run
concurrently, and three (3) years for each incest count to run concurrently to each other, but
consecutively to the rape sentences. However, because there were multiple rape convictions, the
defendant’ srelease eligibility for the rape convictionsis 100%. Thetria court levied the full fines
recommended by the jury.

The defendant now appeals the judgments of the trial court.

Hearsay Testimony

On appeal, the defendant argues that a statement made by the witness, Mary Ann Breeden,
wasinadmissible hearsay. The State argues that because the statement was not offered to prove the
truth of the matter asserted it was not hearsay and, therefore, admissible.

The following exchange occurred during the State' s direct examination of Mary Ann
Breeden:

Q. At some point in time did [the victim] disclose to you or say to you
something to the effect that she had a sexual relationship with her father?

A. Yes.

Mr. Miller:  Your Honor, | think I'll make a hearsay objection. I'm not
sure that’ s in the form of fresh complaint, that many years | ater.




Gen. Newcomb: Y our Honor, the State is not offering —[thevictim] is
going to be here to testify later on, Your Honor. The State is offering that as a
foundation for my next question regarding a discussion that occurred between Ms.
Breeden and [thevictim] at the church. I'm not offeringit for the proof of the matter,
I’'m just offering it to lay the foundation.

The Court: Objection overruled.

Q. Now, Ms. Breeden, at some point in time after [the victim] had made
thisstatement to you, did you have aconversation with [the defendant] inthe church?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Alright. Tell the Jury about that conversation?

A. Let'ssee. Wesat downtotalk. Atfirst heran out and he came back
in and we sat down and talked and | was alittle skittish and he said are you scared
of meand | just sort of looked at him. And he asked mewhy and | said well, there's
more to the situation than you’ re letting on and | know about it. And he said well,
if we'reon the sametrack then yes, thereis. And that’s about — I mean we never did
go into discussion about what it was but we were on the same level.

Q. Ms. Breeden, just to clarify, you said to [the defendant] there’ smore
to the situation than you' re letting on and | know about it?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. And he responded to you well, yes, there is?

A. Yes.

The admissibility of evidence is a matter solely within the discretion of the trial court, and
the trial court’s ruling will not be disturbed absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion.
See Statev. Cauthern, 967 S.W.2d 726, 743 (Tenn. 1998). Hearsay is*astatement, other than one
made by the declarant whiletestifying at thetria or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth
of the matter asserted.” Tenn. R. Evid. 801(c). Hearsay testimony is not admissible as evidence
during atrial. Tenn. R. Evid. 802.

The State argues that the statement in question was not hearsay because it was not offered
for the proof of the matter asserted. Rather, the State offered the statement to lay the foundation for
the conversation between Ms. Breeden and the defendant.

In Statev. Gibson, 973 S.\W.2d 231 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997), we addressed asimilar hearsay
problem. In Gibson, thevictim’ smother tape recorded her conversation with the defendant in which
the defendant admitted to having sexual relations with her daughter. The defendant objected to the
admissibility of the mother’ s statements on therecording ashearsay. We stated, “[ T]he state did not
ask thejury to believe what she said on the tapes. The state’s primary objective wasto bring before
the jury the statements made by the defendant.” Gibson, 973 S.W.2d at 243 (citing State v. Jones,
598 S.W.2d 209 (Tenn. 1980)). Therefore, we said the statements were not hearsay. The same can
be said in the case at hand. The State did not offer the victim’ s statement to Ms. Breeden to prove
that the victim and the defendant were having a sexual relationship, but rather used that statement
to bring the defendant’ s statements concerning his relationship with the victim before the jury.
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Asstated above, theadmission of evidenceisinthesolediscretion of thetrial court. Because
we have determined that the statementswere not hearsay, we find no abuse of discretion on the part
of thetria court. Therefore, thisissueiswithout merit.

Clergy/Parishioner Privilege

Thedefendant al so arguesthat the testimony of Reverend Tiger Gullett should not have been
allowed at trial. The defendant argues this testimony was not admissible because it falls under the
confidential communications privilegefor clergy found at Tennessee Code Annotated section 24-1-
206(a).

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion to alow admissions made by the defendant to his
pastor, Reverend Gullett. The Staterelied upon Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-614 which
statesthat evidentiary privilegesareinapplicableto child abuse cases. Thetrial court held ahearing
on thisissue and determined that the testimony was admissible due to Tennessee Code Annotated
section 37-1-614.

Reverend Gullett testified to the statements that could be considered privileged
communication. Hetestified that he received atelephone call from the defendant when the victim
moved out of hishouse. Reverend Gullett said that the defendant stated in the conversation that he
was very upset because “it wasn't as if he had lost his daughter, it was asif he had lost his wife.”
Reverend Gullett went on to testify that he later found out about the sexual relationship between the
defendant and the victim from the victim's mother. He called the defendant and asked if the
alegationsweretrue. The defendant responded that they weretrue. Hethen told Reverend Gullett
that “it wasn’t as if he was having a sexual relationship with his daughter, he never knew her as a
child soit didn't, it just didn’t seem rational to him at that time that it was his actual daughter.”

Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-614 reads “[tlhe privileged quality of
communication . . . between any professional person and the professional person’spatient or client,
and any other privileged communication except that between attorney and client, . . . shall not apply
to any situation involving known or suspected child sexual abuse.” At Tennessee Code Annotated
section 37-1-602(a)(3), child sexua abuse is defined extensively. There are essentialy four
definitions for the term addressing four different situations. The first two definitions clearly limit
the lifting of the privilege to incidents occurring before the victim is thirteen years old and
specifically references the criminal offenses commonly charged in such a situation. Tenn. Code
Ann. 8§ 37-1-602(a)(3)(A) & (B). The third definition describes various conduct which would be
considered by the average layperson to be child sexual abusewithout referenceto the criminal code.
Tenn. Code Ann. § 37-1-602(a)(3)(C).

The State, both at trial and on appeal, reliesupon the fourth definitionincluded in Tennessee
Code Annotated section 37-1-602(a)(3)(D). Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-602(a)(3)(D)
states:



For the purposes of the reporting, investigation, and treatment provisions of
88 37-1-603 —37-1-615 “child sexual abuse’ also means the commission of any act
specified in subdivisions (a8)(2)(A)-(C) against a child thirteen (13) years of age
through seventeen (17) years of age if such act is committed against the child by a
parent . . ..

Tenn. Code Ann. § 37-1-602(a)(3)(D) (emphasis added).

Wedo agreethat Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-614 isincluded within the statutes
referenced in Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-602(a)(3)(D). However, when as in the
instant case, thesituation involvesachild between the ages of thirteen (13) and seventeen (17) when
the sexua abuse occurs, the limiting language in Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-
602(a)(3)(D) liftstheclergy/parishioner privilegeonly in situationswherethe Department of Human
Servicesisinvestigating child sexua abuse allegations, and people are reporting such allegationsto
the authorities, the Department of Children’s Services is investigating such allegations, or the
Department of Children’s Servicesis seeking treatment for victims following such allegations. In
fact, the Department of Children’s Servicesisreferenced severa times throughout this chapter of
the Code, including the enumerated sections under the definition in question. See Tenn. Code Ann.
88 37-1-102(b)(11), -603, -606, -607, & -611. For these reasons, we find that Tennessee Code
Annotated section 37-1-614 is not available in criminal prosecutions as an exception to the
evidentiary privilege of communication between a clergyman and his parishioner when the victim
isthirteen (13) through seventeen (17) years of age.

A number of decisionsin this state have held that Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-
614 lifts the clergy/parishioner privilege in cases involving otherwise privileged statements given
to official investigations of child abuse alegations. See, State v. Smith, 933 SW.2d 450 (Tenn.
1996); State v. Chesley Randall Thompson, No. 03C01-9807-CC-00238 Tenn. Crim. App. at




Knoxville, Mar. 24, 1999); State v. Reuben Carlton Bowen, Jr., No. 03C01-9108-CR-241 (Tenn.
Crim. App. at Knoxville, Jan. 30, 1992). In Statev. Donald C. McCary, No. 03C01-9303-CR-00103
(Tenn. Crim. App. at Knoxville, May 11, 1994); apanel of thisCourt held that the clergy/parishioner
privilegedid not apply where the defendant made one of hisincriminating statementsto aclergyman
outside of aquest for spiritual counsel or advice, and made another statement to another clergyman
from whom the defendant had rejected an offer of spiritual advice and counseling.

The only case squarely on point with the case sub judice is State v. Michael D. Keen, No.
01C01-9804-CR-00192, 1999 WL 254384 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Nashville, April, 30, 1999). In
Keen, we stated that Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-614 (1996) did not apply to lift the
evidentiary privilege because the victim was fourteen (14) and, therefore, not a child and that the
indictment did not allege child sexual abuse. Michael D. Keen, 1999 WL 254384 at *5, n.4. Our
Court had previoudly established in the opinion that the victim was not a child by definition under
Tennessee Code Annotated sections 39-13-504(a)(4) and 39-13-522(a). Michael D. Keen, 1999 WL
254384 at *4. Those statutes provide, as in the first two definitions under Tennessee Code
Annotated section 37-1-602(a)(3), that achild is defined as an individual who isunder thirteen (13)
years of age.

In the case sub judice, the victim was thirteen (13) at the time of her first sexual encounter
with her father. Thebehavior then continued up until thetime shewas eighteen (18), graduated from
high school and moved out of the defendant’ s house. Therefore, the provisions of Tennessee Code
Annotated section 37-1-614 lifting the evidentiary privilege cannot apply to this case under the
definitions set out in Tennessee Code Annotated section 37-1-602(a)(3). The privilege aso cannot
belifted relying upon Tennessee Code A nnotated section 37-1-614 in companion withthecommonly
accepted criminal code definition of a child in sex crimes.

For thesereasons, thetrial court erred in allowing Reverend Gullett to testify to defendant’s
statements on these two occasions at trial. We must now turn to whether the error was harmless.
When determining whether such an error isharmless beyond areasonabl e doubt, the proper question
is “whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the outcome of the
trial.” Statev. Allen, 69 SW.3d 181, 191 (Tenn. 2002).

Wefind that even without Reverend Gullett’ stestimony, areasonable jury would still have
found the defendant guilty. Although not as direct as Reverend Gullett’ s testimony, several other
people testified to similar evidence concerning the relationship between the defendant and the
victim. Thevictim’smother and thevictim’ sfriend both testified to similar statements made by the
defendant concerning his relationship with the victim. In addition, there is the testimony of the
victim, whichisthedirect evidence of therelationship. Thejury obviously found her to beacredible
witness. For these reasons, we find that the absence of Reverend Gullett’ s testimony would not
change thejury’ sverdict. Therefore, we find that the error was harmless.



Sufficiency of the Evidence

The defendant also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to convict him of rape and
incest. When adefendant challengesthe sufficiency of the evidence, this Court isobliged to review
that claim according to certain well-settled principles. A verdict of guilty, rendered by a jury and
“approved by the trial judge, accredits the testimony of the” State’s withesses and resolves all
conflictsin the testimony in favor of the State. Statev. Cazes, 875 S.W.2d 253, 259 (Tenn. 1994);
State v. Harris, 839 SW.2d 54, 75 (Tenn. 1992). Thus, although the accused is originally cloaked
with a presumption of innocence, the jury verdict of guilty removes this presumption “and replaces
it with one of guilt.” State v. Tuggle, 639 S.W.2d 913, 914 (Tenn. 1982). Hence, on appedl, the
burden of proof restswith the defendant to demonstrate theinsufficiency of the convicting evidence.
Id. Therelevant question thereviewing court must answer iswhether any rationa trier of fact could
have found the accused guilty of every element of the offense beyond areasonable doubt. See Tenn.
R. App. P. 13(e); Harris, 839 S.W.2d at 75. In making this decision, we are to accord the State “the
strongest legitimate view of theevidenceaswell asall reasonable and | egitimate inferencesthat may
be drawn therefrom.” See Tuggdle, 639 S.W.2d at 914. As such, this Court is precluded from re-
weighing or reconsi dering the evidence when eval uating the convicting proof. Statev. Morgan, 929
S.W.2d 380, 383 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1996); State v. Matthews, 805 S.W.2d 776, 779 (Tenn. Crim.
App. 1990). Moreover, we may not substitute our own “inferences for those drawn by the trier of
fact from circumstantial evidence.” Matthews, 805 S.W.2d at 779.

The State's first witness at trial was Detective Derrick Woods with the Cocke County
Sheriff’s Department. Detective Woods testified that he received information from the police in
Washington state around June 15, 2000. This information led him to take a statement from the
victim and from her friend Mary Ann Breeden. He then swore out arrest warrants and took the
defendant into custody.

The State then presented the victim’ sfriend, Mary Ann Breeden. Ms. Breeden testified that
she and the victim attended church and school together. Ms. Breeden stated that the relationship
between the victim and the defendant was more like a husband and wife relationship than afather
and daughter relationship. She also testified that the defendant was very jealous of thevictim. She
told of oneincident where the victim went to the prom with her boyfriend, but the defendant would
not have a copy of the picture because her boyfriend was in the picture. She also described the
defendant as domineering, angry and acting like a jealous husband. On cross-examination, Ms.
Breeden testified that she sometimes would spend the night with the victim as many asthree nights
aweek but never saw the victim and the defendant have sexual relations. Sometimes, she stated, the
victim’'s half-sister, Nikki, would aso be at the house. She aso testified that the victim would try
to have boyfriends, but the defendant would get jealous and it would end up in an argument.

The State' s next witness was the victim’s mother, Kimberly Woods-Carlock. Shetestified
that she and the defendant divorced in 1983. From their divorce until the victim was nine (9) years
old, the victim had no contact with the defendant. After the victim turned thirteen (13) in 1995, she



moved to Tennesseeto live with the defendant and spent the summerswith her mother. Thevictim
did not make any allegations against the defendant until June of 2000.

Ms. Woods-Carlock also testified that she came to Tennessee for the victim's high school
graduation. At the graduation, she met thevictim’ sboyfriend. When the defendant met thevictim’s
boyfriend, “the look on his face just made [her] nervous and [her] blood run cold.” She saw the
defendant turn around and walk out of the graduation with Nikki. When the defendant left the
graduation, the victim broke down. The victim and her mother then returned to the mother’s hotel.
When the defendant brought Nikki to swim at the hotel, the witness confronted the defendant
because of hisabnormal reaction. The defendant, thevictim, and Ms. Woods-Carlock then sat down
to discuss the defendant’ sreaction. He said that he had never met the boyfriend before and that the
victim was a liar and deceitful. The witness testified that there was still no disclosure of sexual
abuse at thistime, but there was plenty of verbal abuse of the victim by the defendant. The family
then went to dinner. After dinner, Ms. Woods-Carlock and the defendant had a phone conversation
in which he became very abusive to her.

Ms. Woods-Carlock said she spoketo the victim by telephone on June 2. During this phone
conversation, the victim told the witness of her sexual relationship with the defendant. When she
returned to Washington state, Ms. Woods-Carlock Ieft the victim in the care of another family, but
the defendant came and got the victim. The witness then made flight arrangements for the victim
to stay with her in Washington state for the summer. After the victim cameto Washington state, the
defendant called Ms. Woods-Carlock crying. He told Ms. Woods-Carlock that he was sorry. Ms.
Woods-Carlock told the defendant that he needed to turn himself in to the police. Hetold her he
“couldn’t livelike this’ and that she should not call him for three days. He would send the victim
al the money in his pocket and that he had everything he needed in his car. He then told Ms.
Woods-Carlock he would not go to jail, and he hung up the phone. She later spoke with him by
phone to make sure that he was still in Tennessee and not coming to her house to take the victim
away. When shedid, she again urged him to turn himself in to the police, but hetold her to talk to
hislawyer. She and the victim went to the police in Washington state, filed a police report and got
arestraining order against the defendant.

On cross-examination, Ms. Woods-Carlock stated that the defendant did get the victim
enrolled in school and involved in church. She also stated that the victim lived with her every
summer except for the summer between the ages of thirteen (13) and fourteen (14). She sent the
victim to live with the defendant because of her contentious divorce at the time but let her remain
with the defendant because of her son’s drug problems.

The State' s next witness was the defendant’ s pastor, the Reverend Roy “Tiger” Gullett. We
addressed a portion of the pastor’ s testimony above and held that a portion of Reverend Gullett’s
testimony wasinadmissible at trial. However, histestimony concerning the appellate’ s admissions
can be considered when assessing the sufficiency of the convicting evidence. See, State v.
Longstreet, 619 SW.2d 97, 100-01 (Tenn. 1981). Moreover, his admissible testimony was as
follows. At some point when the victim lived with the defendant, her brother was in an accident.
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The victim’s mother called the pastor and his wife to find the victim and get her to aphone to talk
to her mother. The minister and his wife went to get her, and then they went to a tennis court
looking for the defendant. Later that evening, Reverend Gullett ran into the defendant. The
defendant became very angry with Reverend Gullett, pulled off his shirt, indicating he wanted to
fight, and told the Reverend that he had no right going to get the victim. The Reverend apologized,
and the two men maintained their friendship. Reverend Gullett stated that the victim cared for the
defendant very much, but was also very fearful of him. The Reverend believed that the victim was
unstableemotionally. Hea so believed the defendant’ streatment of thevictim to bevery loving and
concerned, but at the same time domineering.

On cross-examination, Reverend Gullett testified that the defendant had been a member of
the church before the victim moved to live with him. When asked if the defendant was a good
provider, theReverendreplied, “ Somewhat, yes.” Inreferenceto theargument between the minister
and the defendant, the defendant’ s attorney asked if Reverend Gullett could understand why the
defendant would be so upset about another man picking up his daughter without permission.
Reverend Gullett replied that he did not understand it because his wife was with him, and they
believed that they were acting compassionately.

The State's final witness was the victim. The victim testified that she had “sexual
intercourse” with her father, the defendant, for five years, 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999 and 2000.
She testified that the first time they had sexual relations, she and the defendant were watching a
moviein August of 1995. The movie had an explicit sex scenein it, and she asked her father what
theactorsweredoing. Hethen took her into hisbedroom and asked her if shetrusted him. Shesaid
yes, and hetold her to take off al her clothes. He again asked her if she trusted him. Shereplied
that she did, and hetold her to lie down on the bed. He then took a brush and put the handle inside
of her vagina. Once again he asked her if shewas okay and if shetrusted him. She again said yes,
so hedigitally penetrated her vagina. Heagain asked her if shetrusted him. Shereplied that shedid.
He then took off his clothes and proceeded to get on top of her and have vaginal intercourse until he
gjaculated.

The State then asked the victim if she had had “sexual relations” with the defendant on at
least one occasionin 1996. Shesaid shedid. The State asked the same question for each year from
1996 until 2000. She answered “yes’ to each year. She stated that the defendant was very
controlling and would often take her car away or ground her. Hewould yell at her and sometimes
deprive her of slegp. At timeshewould threaten her with violence, such asthreatening to knock out
her teeth. She said she was afraid of the defendant. She got ajob in 1999 to help pay for extra
senior year expenses. However, she ended up supporting them after she got her job, because the
defendant then quit hisjob. Her younger haf-sister, Nikki, lived with them on the weekends.

Sometimes the defendant was remorseful for having sexual relations with the victim. At
thosetimes, the defendant and the victim would go up to thealtar at church and pray for forgiveness.
But, he continued to have intercourse with the victim. On at least one occasion, while they were
having intercourse, the defendant asked the victim “how it felt to have [her] father f—ing her.” He
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told her that he was in love with her. He said that he wanted to run away with her where no one
knew them. Then, because they had the same |ast name, people would think they were husband and
wife. Hewas oftenjeaousif any boys called, and he stormed out of her graduation after he met her
boyfriend.

She never reported their relationship while she lived there. She said that she was scared to
report it and wanted to protect her younger half-sister. To punish her he took away her car or
deprived her of deep. Shewent to him sexually to end the punishment. Shetook birth control pills
during this period.

On cross-examination, the victim testified that she met her father when she was eight (8).
The next time she saw him he was living in Florida. She then moved in with him when she was
thirteen (13). Shestated that her sexual experienceswith her father werenot painful, and sometimes
she had sexual intercourse with him willingly. The defendant never wore condoms, but she never
got pregnant, even though she took the pill irregularly. She said that her father did not like her
having boyfriends and caused problemsfor her in that regard. She aso stated that her father never
physically abused her.

On redirect, the victim testified that she had full sexual intercourse where the defendant
would put his penisin her vaginain 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999 and 2000. She was frightened
not to return to the defendant’ s house after her summers away because she was afraid he would start
on her sister or something el'se bad would happen. She aso testified that their family friends, the
Bible family, were not with them twenty-four hours a day, seven days aweek. This concluded the
State’ s case.

The defendant’ s main argument on appeal isthat the evidence wasinsufficient to support the
defendant’ s convictions for rape and incest. The defendant specifically relies upon the absence of
proof of force or coercion that is required for rape, but not incest. Tennessee Code Annotated
section 39-13-501 contains the definition of coercion as it applies to the offense of rape under
Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-503(a). This section defines coercion as the “threat of
kidnapping, extortion, force or violence to be performed immediately or in the future or the use of
parental, custodial, or official authority over achild lessthan fifteen (15) yearsof age....” Tenn.
Code Ann. § 39-13-501(1) (emphasis added). The defendant’ s rape convictions were for the years
that the victim was thirteen (13) and fourteen (14). Therefore, the use of parental authority over a
child less than fifteen (15) has been met in this case. The fact that there was no proof of physical
abuse or physical force by the defendant to procure sexual intercourse with thevictimisirrelevant.
There is sufficient evidence to prove coercion from the proof that the victim was thirteen (13) and
fourteen (14) when she had sexual intercourse with her father, the defendant.

Thisissue is without merit.
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L esser -l ncluded Offenses

The defendant also argues that the trial court erred by not instructing on the lesser-included
offenses of assault, sexual battery, attempted rape, attempted incest and child abuse. However, as
the State points out in its brief, the defendant does not include the trial court’ sfailureto instruct on
sexual battery, attempted rape or attempted incest in his Motion for New Trial, but merely assault
and misdemeanor child abuse. The State argues that the defendant has therefore waived an appeal
onthetrial court’ sfailuretoinstruct on sexual battery, attempted rape or attempted incest. The State
then arguesthat even though the defendant included assault and sexual battery in hismotion for new
tria, thetria court’ sfalureto instruct on these offensesis not sufficient to warrant reversal of his
conviction.

When reviewing atrial court’s failure to instruct on lesser-included offenses, it is a mixed
guestion of law andfact. Statev. Marcum, 109 S.W.3d 300, 302 (Tenn. 2003) (citing Statev. Rush,
50 SW.3d 424, 427 (Tenn. 2001)). Therefore, we review such questions de novo, with no
presumption of correctness. Id.

Our statutes provide:

Itistheduty of all judgeschargingjuriesin casesof criminal prosecutionsfor
any felony wherein two (2) or more grades or classes of offense may beincluded in
the indictment, to charge the jury asto all of the law of each offense included in the
indictment without any request on the part of the defendant to do so.

Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-18-110(a) (1997).' In State v. Ely, 48 SW.3d 710, 726 (Tenn. 2001), our
state supreme court definitively held that this statutory admonition to trial judges enjoyed
constitutional stature under Article I, section 6 of the Constitution of Tennessee, guaranteeing the
right to trial by jury. The court also noted that section 40-18-110(a) (1997) has been interpreted to
mean that the duty to instruct the jury as to a lesser-included offense does not arise unless the
evidenceissufficient to support aconviction for thelesser offense. 1d. at 718 (citing Statev. Burns,
6 S.\W.3d 453, 464 (Tenn. 1999) (quoting State v. Langford, 994 S.W.2d 126, 128 (Tenn. 1999))).

Thetest to determine whether an offense is alesser-included offense of theindicted offense
was articulated in the supreme court decision of Statev. Burns, 6 S\W.2d 453 (Tenn. 1999). Under
the Burns test, an offense is alesser-included offense of the greater indicted offense if:

(@) al of its statutory elements are included within the statutory elements of the

offense charged; or

! This section was amended in 2001. Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-18-110 (Supp. 2003). However, the compiler’s
notes to the amended section state that the new section will govern trials “conducted on or after January 1, 2002.” |d.
Because the defendant’ s trial was conducted on July 31 and August 1, 2001, the statutory section transcribed above is
controlling of the defendant’s case.
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(b) it fails to meet the definition in part (&) only in the respect that it contains a
statutory element or elements establishing
(1) adifferent mental state indicating alesser kind of culpability; and/or
(2) aless serious harm or risk of harm to the same person, property or public
interest; or
(c) it consists of
(1) facilitation of the offense charged or of an offense that otherwise meets
the definition of lesser-included offense in part (a) or (b); or
(2) an attempt to commit the offense charged or an offense that otherwise
meets the definition of lesser-included offensein part (a) or (b) ; or
(3) solicitation to commit the offense charged or an offense that otherwise
meets the definition of lesser-included offense in part (a) or (b).

Id. at 466-67.

Sexual Battery, Attempted Rape and Attempted Incest

Asstated above, the State argues that the defendant has waived his appeal related to thetrial
court’s failure to instruct on sexua battery, attempted rape and attempted incest because of his
failure to include these issues in his motion for new trial. Our supreme court dealt with asimilar
issuein Statev. Reginald D. Terry, No. W2001-03027-SC-R11-CD, 2003 WL 22455893 (Tenn. Oct.
30, 2003). InTerry, thedefendant failed to file atimely motionfor anew trial. Thereforehewaived
his right to appeal on the issue of lesser-included offenses. However, our supreme court held that
the defendant could be granted relief if “the failure to instruct constituted plain error.” Reginald D.
Terry, 2003 WL 22455893, at *4. Therefore, we turn to aplain error anaysis.

In order to review an issue under the plain error doctrine, fivefactors must be present: (1) the
record must clearly establish what occurred in thetrial court; (2) aclear and unequivocal rule of law
must have been breached; (3) asubstantial right of the defendant must have been adversely affected,;
(4) the accused did not waive the issue for tactical reasons; and (5) consideration of the error is
necessary to do substantial justice. See Statev. Adkisson, 899 SW.2d 626, 641 (Tenn. Crim. App.
1994); see dso Tenn. R. Crim. P. 52(b).

Sexual Battery

We must first decide whether sexual battery is indeed a lesser-included offense under the
Burnstest. Sexual battery has been held to be alesser-included offense of aggravated rape under the
Burns test by our supreme court in State v. Bowles, 52 SW.3d 69, 76-77 (Tenn. 2001). Sexual
battery has a so been held to be alesser-included offense of rape by our Court in Statev. Steven Lee
Whitehead, No. W2000-01062-CCA-R3-CD, 2001 WL 1042164 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Jackson,
Sept. 7, 2001), and State v. Steven Lee Whitehead, No. W2002-00484-CCA-RM-CD, 2002 WL
1426542 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Jackson, Dec. 2, 2002).
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Having found that sexual battery doesindeed meet the Burnstest asal esser-included offense,
we now turn to whether the trial court should have instructed on sexual battery. In Burns, our
supreme court stated atwo-part analysis to determine whether alesser-included offense instruction
should be given to jury. Our supreme court stated:

First, the trial court must determine whether any evidence exists that reasonable
minds could accept as to the lesser-included offense. In making this determination,
the trial court must view the evidence liberally in the light most favorable to the
existence of the lesser-included offense without making any judgments on the
credibility of such evidence. Second, thetrial court must determineif the evidence,
viewed in this light, is legally sufficient to support a conviction for the lesser-
included offense.

Burns, 6 S.W.3d at 4609.

The elements of sexual battery as pertains to the case sub judice are: (1) unlawful sexual
contact between avictim and a defendant; (2) force or coercion is used to accomplish the act; and
(3) the defendant acted intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly. Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-13-505(a);
see also Steven Lee Whitehead, 2001 WL 1042164 at *20. Coercion in this section means, “the
threat of kidnapping, extortion, force or violence to be performed immediately or in the future.”
Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-13-505(b). Sexual contact means, “the intentional touching of thevictim’s,
the defendant’s, or any other person’s intimate parts, or the intentional touching of the clothing
covering the immediate area of the victim's, the defendant’s, or any other person’s intimate parts,
if that intentional touching can be reasonably construed as being for the purpose of sexual arousal
or gratification.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-501(6).

The elements of rape as relevant to the defendant’s conviction are: (1) unlawful sexual
penetration by the defendant of avictim or by avictim of the defendant; (2) accomplished by force
or coercion; and (3) the defendant acted intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly. Tenn. Code Ann.
839-13-503(a). Thedefinitionfor coercionasusedin Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-503
can befound at Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-501. This section defines coercion asthe
“threat of kidnapping, extortion, force or violence to be performed immediately or in the future or
the use of parental, custodial, or official authority over achild less than fifteen (15) years of age . .
..” Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-13-501(1) (emphasis added).

In the Bowles and Whitehead cases, the supreme court and our Court focused on the
difference between aggravated rape or rape and sexual battery being the requirement of sexual
arousal or gratification asan element of sexual battery but not of aggravated rape or rape. However,
there is an additiona difference between rape and sexua battery in the case sub judice. The
definition of coercion for the two offenses, and that relied upon for the defendant’ s conviction, are
very different. Coercion asused in Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-503 includes“the use
of parental, custodial, or official authority over achildlessthanfifteen (15) yearsof age....” Tenn.

-14-



Code Ann. § 39-13-501(1) (emphasis added). However, “coercion” as defined in Tennessee Code
Annotated section 39-13-505 does not include this language.

Now weturnto whether thereis any evidence that reasonable minds could accept asto proof
of sexual battery from the evidence presented at trial. As stated above, the important difference
between the elements of rape and sexual battery as pertainsto this case isthe definition of coercion.
At tria, the victim did not testify to any threats “of kidnapping, extortion, force or violence.” She
testified that the defendant never physically hurt her at any of their encounters. She even testified
that sometimes sheinitiated sexual activity so that she could get out of her punishments. Evenwhen
this evidence is taken in a light most favorable to the existence of sexua battery, there is no way
reasonable minds could find that this evidence would support a sexual battery conviction.

In addition, thetrial court presented thejury with acount of rapefor each of thesix (6) years
thevictim lived with thedefendant. However, thejury convicted the defendant of the counts of rape
for the yearsthat the victim wasthirteen (13) and fourteen (14) and rejected the rape indictmentsfor
theyearsthevictim wasfifteen (15) or older. Clearly, thejury relied upon the definition of coercion
connected to the victim being under the age of fifteen (15) to find the defendant guilty of rape. If
the jury had found coercion in any other form, they could have convicted the defendant of the
additional counts of ragpe. The jury clearly rgected other forms of coercion or force in its
deliberations.

Wefindthat thereisno evidencethat reasonableminds could rely uponto find the defendant
guilty of sexua battery in the case sub judice. Therefore, we do not find plain error in the trial
court’ sfailluretoinstruct on sexual battery. Rather, wefind that thetrial court had no duty toinstruct
on the lesser-included offense of sexual battery, because no substantial right of the defendant has
been adversely affected. See Adkisson, 899 SW.2d at 641-43.

Attempted Incest and Attempted Rape

The defendant also argues that the trial court committed reversible error when it did not
instruct the jury upon the lesser-included offenses of attempted incest and attempted rape. Asstated
above, the defendant did not include thisissue in his motion for new trial, therefore, the plain error
rule must be met for areversal of the defendant’s conviction on thisissue.

Attempt crimes are lesser-included offenses under part (c) of the Burnstest. “An offenseis
alesser-included offenseif . . . (c) it consists of . . .(2) an attempt to commit the offense charged.”
Burns, 6 SW.3d at 466-67.

As stated above, after determining that an offense is indeed a lesser-included offense, we

must then turn to the two-part test set out in Burnsto determine whether thetrial court should have
giventheinstruction. The two-part test is whether evidence exists so that reasonable minds could

-15-



accept the lesser-included offense and then whether the evidence is legally sufficient to support a
conviction on the lesser- included offense. Id. at 469.

Our supreme court analyzed the application of the Burns test to part (c) attempt lesser-
included offenses in State v. Marcum, 109 S.\W.3d 300 (Tenn. 2003). Thetria court in Marcum
convicted the defendant of rape of a child, aggravated sexual battery and incest. On apped, the
defendant argued that the trial court’s failure to instruct on attempted rape was reversible error.
Marcum, 109 SW.3d at 301. The supreme court held that there were two ways to interpret the
evidenceat trial. Either therewas evidencethat there was acompleted crime or evidencethat there
wasnot acrimeat al. 1d. at 304. Becausetherewas no evidence of attempt, the supreme court held
that an instruction on attempt was not required. Id. In other words, an instruction on a lesser-
included offenseisnot triggered under part (c) of the Burnstest unlessareasonablejuror might have
found that the defendant was guilty only of attempt as opposed to the completed crime.

We now turn to the elements of rape, incest and attempt. Rape, as relevant to this case, is
“the unlawful sexual penetration of a victim by the defendant or of the defendant by a victim
accompanied by the following circumstances. . . [f]orce or coercion is used to accomplish the act
....” Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-13-503(a)(1). Incest is“engag[ing] in sexual penetration as defined
in § 39-13-501, with a person, knowing such person to be, without regard to legitimacy . . .[t]he
person’snatura . .. child....” Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-15-302. Sexual penetration is defined as,
“sexual intercourse, cunnilingus, fellatio, ana intercourse, or any other intrusion, however dight,
of any part of a person’ s body or of any object into the genital or anal openings of the victim’s, the
defendant’s, or any other person’s body, but emission of semenisnot required. ...” Tenn. Code
Ann. 8 39-13-501(7). Criminal attempt isfound at Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-12-101,
which states:

(@) A person commits criminal attempt who, acting with the kind of
culpability otherwise required for the offense:

(2) Intentionally engagesin action or causes aresult that would constitute an
offense if the circumstances surrounding the conduct were as the person believes
them to be;

(2) Acts with intent to cause a result that is an element of the offense, and
believesthe conduct will causetheresult that would constitute the offense, under the
circumstances surrounding the conduct as the person believes them to be, and the
conduct constitutes a substantial step toward the commission of the offense.

(b) conduct does not constitute a substantial step under subdivision (a)(3)
unlessthe person’ sentire course of actioniscorroborative of theintent to commit the
offense.

There was no evidence presented at trial to support a conviction for attempted rape or
attempted incest. At trial, the only evidence presented as to the specific details of the encounters
between the victim and the defendant was the victim’s testimony. The victim testified to having
sexual relations with her father. She then testified to having sexual intercourse with him upon re-
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direct examination. Therewasadditional testimony from the victim’smother and her friend stating
that they heard of the*abuse’ or “sexual relationship” from the defendant and the victim. However,
the direct evidence asto the encounters clearly includes evidence of actual penetration. Therefore,
there is no evidence from which a jury could find the defendant guilty of only attempted rape or
attempted incest. Asin Marcum, the jury was left with two interpretations. Either the victim was
acrediblewitness and the defendant had sexual intercourse with her, or she was not credible and he
did not have intercourse with her. The testimony by the victim’'s mother and her friend merely
support the victim’ s testimony but are not enough in themselves to support an attempt conviction.
Therefore, areasonable jury could not find sufficient evidence to support convictions for attempted
rape or attempted incest. Wethereforedeclineto find plain error with respect to afailureto instruct
the jury with respect to attempted rape or attempted incest. Thisissueiswaived.

Child Abuse

The defendant did include the absence of an instruction on the lesser offense of child abuse
asaground in hismotion for new trial. Therefore, we must analyze thisissue under Burns without
having to meet the plain error rule. Under Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-15-401(d), child
abuse can be “alesser included offense of any kind of . . . sexual offenseif thevictimisachild and
the evidence supports a charge under this section.”

We now turn to whether a reasonable jury could find evidence of child abuse under these
facts. Child abuse iswhen “[a]ny person who knowingly, other than by accidental means, treats a
child under eighteen (18) years of age in such amanner asto inflictinjury . ...” Tenn. Code Ann.
§39-15-401(a). Bodilyinjuryisdefinedas, “acut, abrasion, bruise, burn or disfigurement; physical
pain or temporary illness or impairment of the function of abodily member, organ, or mental faculty
...." Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 39-11-106(a)(2). Upon cross-examination, the victim testified that her
sexual experienceswith her father were never apainful experiencephysically. Thereisno evidence
that any of the victim’ smental facultieswereimpaired. Thevictim also agreed that her father never
“laid ahand on [her] asfar as physical abuse, lapping, hitting, black eyes, anything likethat.” This
evidence is not enough for a reasonable juror to support a finding of child abuse. There is no
testimony that the defendant ever injured the victim. Therefore, we find that there was no error in
the trial court’ s failureto instruct on child abuse.

Assault

The defendant particularly argues that the jury should have been instructed on Class B
misdemeanor assault found at Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-101(a)(3). Assault under
Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-101(a)(3) is defined as “intentionally or knowingly
cauging] physical contact with another and a reasonable person would regard the contact as
extremely offensive or provocative.” This Court has held that Class B misdemeanor assault is
indeed alesser-included offense of rape. Statev. Haskel D. Finch, No. M2001-00340-CCA-R3-CD,
2002 WL 1204931, at *15 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Nashville, June 5, 2002).
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We now turn to whether the trial court should have given the instruction. We first must
determineif thereisany evidencethat areasonablejury could accept to prove assault. Thevictim’s
testimony clearly would suffice to prove assault to a reasonable jury. The defendant knowingly
caused physical contact that areasonabl e person would consider extremely offensive or provocative.
We aso determine that the evidence is legally sufficient to support a conviction for assault.
Therefore, thetria court erred in not instructing on Class B misdemeanor assaullt.

The State concedes that the trial court erred in not giving thisinstruction. However, thisis
not the end of the inquiry. We must now determine whether this error is harmless beyond a
reasonable doubt. Ely, 48 SW.3d at 727. When determining whether such an error is harmless
beyond areasonabledoubt, the proper questionis*whether it appearsbeyond areasonabl e doubt that
the error did not affect the outcome of thetrial.” Statev. Allen, 69 S.W.3d 181, 191 (Tenn. 2002).

In Statev. Michael ElvisGreen, No. W2001-00455-CCA-R3-CD, 2002 WL 1482680 (Tenn.
Crim. App. at Jackson, Mar. 8, 2002), we were faced with an almost identical situation. In Green,
there was definitive evidence of penetration, but no evidence of mere contact. We held that it was
harmless error for thetrial court to not instruct on Class B misdemeanor assault because there was
no evidence that defendant’ s acts constituted mere contact.

As in Green, the evidence presented at the trial was of penetration only. There was no
evidence presented of mere contact. The defendant’s theory at trial was to question the victim’s
credibility. Thejury obviously credited the victim’ stestimony. Therefore, thetrial court’ sfailure
to instruct on Class B misdemeanor assault did not affect the outcome of thetrial and was harmless
error.

For the reasons stated above, the trial court’s failure to instruct on the enumerated |esser-
included offensesis neither error nor harmless error.

Sentence and Fines

At the conclusion of the defendant’ s trial, the jury recommended a fine of $50,000 for the
rape convictions and $20,000 for the incest convictions. Thetrial court sentenced the defendant as
aRange | Standard Offender to twelve (12) years on each rape conviction, to run concurrently, and
three (3) yearsfor each incest count to run concurrently to each other, but consecutively to the rape
sentences. However, becausethereweremultiplerapeconvictions, thedefendant’ sreleaseeligibility
for the rape convictionsis 100%. Thetrial court levied the full fines recommended by the jury.

In making its sentencing determination, the trial court, at the conclusion of the sentencing
hearing, determinestherange of sentenceand then determinesthe specific sentenceand thepropriety
of sentencing aternatives by considering: (1) the evidence, if any, received at the trial and the
sentencing hearing; (2) the presentence report; (3) the principles of sentencing and argumentsasto
sentencing aternatives; (4) the nature and characteristics of the criminal conduct involved; (5)
evidence and information offered by the parties on the enhancement and mitigating factors; (6) any
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statements the defendant wishes to make on his own behalf about sentencing; and (7) the potential
for rehabilitation or treatment. Tenn. Code Ann. 88 40-35-210(a), (b), -103(5); State v. Williams,
920 SW.2d 247, 258 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1995).

The defendant only presents an argument that the fines were excessive in this case. He
presents no argument regarding the length of his sentence, nor does he cite any authority. For this
reason, the defendant haswaived theissue of his sentenceinthisappeal. See Tenn. Ct. Crim. App.
R. 10(b).

We now turn to theissue of the fineslevied by the trial court. When the jury returned from
deliberations, the jury foreperson told the trial court that the jury had decided on afine of $25,000
on rape and $10,000 on incest. Thetrial court and the State wanted clarification on how that sum
applied to the two counts of each conviction. The jury foreperson then said the jury did not
understand the fine structure and asked to return to the jury room. Thetrial court alowed the jury
to return. The defendant objected to the jury retiring to reconsider thefines. Thejury retired to the
jury room for five (5) minutes. When they returned, they had decided upon $25,000 for each rape
conviction and $10,000 for each incest conviction. At the sentencing hearing, thetrial court levied
fines of $25,000 for each rape conviction and $10,000 for each incest conviction, for a total of
$70,000.

“When imposing sentence, after the sentencing hearing, the court shall imposeafine, if any,
not to exceed thefine fixed by thejury.” Tenn. Code Ann. 8 40-35-301(b). Our supreme court has
stated:

Thetrial court’simposition of afine, within the limits set by thejury, isto be based
upon the factors provided by the 1989 Sentencing Act, which include “the
defendant’ s ability to pay that fine, and other factors of judgment involved in setting
the total sentence.” State v. Marshall, 870 SW.2d 532, 542 (Tenn. Crim. App.
1993). Tria and appellate courts must also consider other factors, including prior
history, potential for rehabilitation, financial means, and mitigating and enhancing
factors that are relevant to an appropriate, overall sentence. State v. Blevins, 968
S.W.2d 888, 895 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997). The seriousness of aconviction offense
may also support a punitive fine. State v. Alvarado, 961 SW.2d 136, 153 (Tenn.
Crim. App. 1996).

Statev. Taylor, 70 SW.3d 717, 723 (Tenn. 2002).

The defendant’ s argument on appeal isthat heisindigent and unableto pay thefine. While
he notes that the technical record does not include an affidavit of indigency, he asks us to take
judicial noticeof thefact that hewasrepresented by the Public Defender and, thus, declared indigent.
There are also no findings of fact by the trial court concerning the defendant’s ability to pay.
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Therefore, our review isde novo without apresumption of correctness. Statev. Ashby, 823 SW.2d
166, 169 (Tenn. 1991).

In Statev. Alvarado, 961 S\W.2d 136 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1996), we faced a situation where
the defendant claimed he was unabl e to pay the fine, which he claimed was excessive, imposed by
the trial court. As in this case, there were no findings of fact by the trial court regarding the
defendant’ s ability to pay. We did state that it was apparent from the record that the defendant was
indigent. Wethen pointed out that, “[a] declaration of indigency, standing alone, doesnot, however,
immunize the defendant from fines. It is merely one factor which may be taken into account.”
Alvarado, 961 SW2d at 153.

In the case sub judice, we find evidence in the record that the defendant was indeed
represented by the Public Defender at trial. However, as stated above, that isnot the sole criteriafor
determining whether afineisexcessive. Thedefendant doeshaveaprior criminal history. Thetrial
court found no mitigating factors and four enhancing factors when sentencing the defendant
including: (1) that the defendant has a previous history of criminal convictionsor criminal behavior
in addition to those necessary to establish the appropriate range; (2) that the offense was committed
to gratify the defendant’s desire for pleasure or excitement; (3) that the defendant has a previous
history of unwillingness to comply with the conditions of a sentence involving release in the
community; and (4) that the defendant abused a position of privatetrust. See Tenn. Code Ann. 8§
40-35-114(1), (7), (8), (15). These enhancement factors are all amply supported by the record at
hand, and furthermore, the defendant does not even contest their application.

We must also consider the seriousness of the offense. The defendant began having sexual
intercourse with his daughter when she was thirteen (13) yearsold. She had recently moved to live
with the defendant, |eaving behind an unstable homelifewith her mother. The victim did not know
the defendant very well at the time, but knew that he was her natural father. We cannot imagine a
much more vulnerable state for a young girl. Then, the defendant continued to have sexual
intercoursewith thevictim on aregular basisfor five (5) years until she graduated from high school
at the age of eighteen (18).

We find more than adequate support for the defendant’s fines under the criteria set out in
Statev. Taylor, 70 SW.3d 717 (Tenn. 2002). Thetrial court’simposition of the maximum fines of
$25,000 for each rape conviction and $10,000 for each incest conviction for atotal of $70,000 is
proper. Therefore, thisissue iswithout merit.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, we affirm the judgments of thetrial court.

JERRY L. SMITH, JUDGE
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